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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS
GARY ROSS,
Plaintiff,
Case No. 18-2631-CM-JPO

V.

PENTAIR and UNITED
STEEL WORKERSLOCAL 13

Defendants.

N N N N N N N N N N N

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiff Gary Ross has filed a four-countsfiamended complaifDoc. 13) against his
employer, defendant Pentaialleging that it has discriminateddretaliated against him based on h
race. Before the court presently is Pentair's motion to dismiss the complaint. (Doc. 18.) Plaint
asserts no claims against the labor union, deferidaited Steel Workers Local 13, in his amended
complaint; that entity is no longarparty in this lawsuit. For ¢hreasons outlined below, the court
grants in part and denies inrpRentair’'s motion to dismiss.

Backaround

According to the first amended complaiptaintiff began work at Pentair on or about
September 12, 1994. He has worked in various capasutersthe years, but is currently an assemb
Although plaintiff has had an excellent employment rédauith Pentair, he asserts that he has also
been the target of discriminati and retaliation because he igiédn-American. In April 2014, he
recounts that he and another African-Ameriearployee were “singled out by management for

performance standards and alleged policy violations,” although white employees were working

1 Defendant Pentair instructs the cdbat the official name of the companyHentair Flow Technologies, LLC.
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same manner and not being disiogd. Plaintiff expressed hi®ocerns about this, and filed a
grievance with his union. In September 2015,ileel fanother grievance. Pentair management beg
to share information concerning plaintiff's pagd overtime with his caorkers without his
permission.

In 2016, Pentair began to “micromanage” pldf’'s performance ad attendance, although
white employees were not similarly micromanag@thintiff expressed Biconcern over “issues
regarding” the celebration of the Mia Luther King Jr. holiday idanuary 2016. In February 2016,
was reprimanded based on the false accusatioo@frorker. Plaintiff's response during that
disciplinary meeting was that he believed he was being singled out because of his race and pr¢g
claims of discrimination. In August 2016, plaintiff reported to upper management that he was
continuing to experience discrimination and saraent; the following month he tried to file a
grievance about this treaént. In October 2016, plaintiff and &frican-American co-worker filed a
complaint with the EEOC outlining Pentair’s racealimination, disparatedatment and retaliation.
Although plaintiff received a “Righb Sue” letter from the EEOC, he did not pursue a lawsuit.
However, after he filed the EEOC complaithings got even worse at work.

In January 2017, a co-worker followed plaintiffarthe restroom and stood outside the stall.
Plaintiff reported this co-worker fesexual harassment. After a briefestigation, Pentair discounteg
plaintiff's claim as not credible. In April 2017, a-e@rker threatened to kiplaintiff. Plaintiff's
account of the ramifications of this event are cathittary. He says that management witnessed th
threat and that he also repatig but no action was taken. ldEso claims that the company
disciplined the co-worker althougheth had determined the co-workebehavior was not a threat.
Plaintiff appealed this decisidout received no reliefStarting in June 2, plaintiff's African-

American friend was repeatedly disciplined forrlvand safety actions which he had previously

an

vious

D




performed without repercussion.aPitiff and his friend shared thexperiences and determined that
non-African-Americans were not iog disciplined for these actig. In July 2017, the company
approached plaintiff about a possiblew position, but he was also told that he might be laid off. He
did not apply for the position. In August, he begamkivg in “the impeller cell,” but was told it was
an apprenticeship program and that if a position opened he could bid on it. That same month, he and
his friend complained to management about thiegfiof a third African-American worker who was
terminated after damaging a product, althougbraAfrican-American worker had also damaged a
product at around the same time and had not been disciplined.

In January 2018, plaintiff bid on two utility waek positions, but was riied that he was not
eligible to bid on them. The positions wehen “removed” and filled by unqualified non-African-
American workers who were trained on the job April 2018, Pentair fired an African-American
worker who was plaintiff's friend. On July 5, 2018aintiff filed another coplaint with EEOC about
Pentair's continued discriminatiomé retaliation. Plaintiff is still vih the company and alleges that
he is still being discriminated against. In didohi, he has been required to work in dangerous
conditions without properaining or equipment. Plaiftialong with some co-workers, has
complained about the dangerous conditions, but Pentair’s sole response has been to deny plaintiff
promotional opportunities. This hostile environment causes plaintiff fear, stress and anxiety.

Plaintiff attaches his July 5, 2018 EEOC chargkiscamended complaint. (Doc. 13-1.) On
the form he indicates that theemis constituted a continuing astithat took place between February
15, 2015, and January 8, 2018. He describes the events as follows:

l. Respondent hired me on or about Sejeni2, 1994. My most recent job title

is Assembler and my immediate supervisor is Gerald Johnson (white),

supervisor. Throughout the tenure of emmployment, | have performed my job
in a satisfactory manner.




Il. In or about May 2017, | filed a chargéracial discrimination against the
respondent.

Il Since 1996, and continuing to the preséhgve attempted to move into a
position as a repairperson. In or ablate 2016 or early 2017, | approached
Ron Barner, Superintendent (whitepoait moving into the repairperson job.
Mr. Barner denied my request becauselaemed that | needed to know how to
run the CNC machine. Since then, and continuing to the present, | am aware of
other similarly situated white employe&to have received training on how to
run the CNC machine.

V. | believe that respondent discriminated against me because of my race, black,
and in retaliation for my participation ingiected activities, in violation of Title
VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended.
(Doc. 13-1.) The EEOC closed ittefwithout a finding, and issuedaitiff a Right to Sue letter on
August 23, 2018. Plaintiff timely filed suit this court on Novendr 21, 2018. (Doc. 1.)

Standard of Review

On a motion to dismiss a complaint broughtsoant to Fed. R. Civ. R2(b)(6), the court
assumes all well-pled facts in the complaint are true, and permits all reasonable inferences from that
pleading. Colony Ins. Co. v. Burké&98 F.3d 1222, 1228 (10th Cir. 2012). Legal conclusions worded
as factual allegations must be disregardésicroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). A complaint
“must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as toustate a claim to relighat is plausible on its
face.” Id. (citing Bell Atl. Co. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)) (internal quotation marks

omitted). In the context of discrimination claims, it is not necessary that the plaintiff set forth all

S

elements of a prima facie case in the complaint;thetelements of each alleged cause of action he
to determine whether Plaintiff baet forth a plausible claimKhalik v. United Air Lines671 F.3d
1188, 1192 (10th Cir. 2010).
Analysis
The court will examine each of plaintiff ®ants and the allegatiosst forth separately,

identifying the operative legatandards as needed.




Count One
In Count |, plaintiff alleges tit Pentair violated two federaMdirights statutes, 42 U.S.C. §
2000e (“Title VII") and 42 U.S.C. § 1981 (“8 1981When it retaliated against him for reporting
discrimination and safety concerns. Pentaidiedtd by ignoring plaitiff's complaints and by
opposing his attempts for promotional opportunities.
Title VII
Title VII prohibits discrimination in employient based on someone’s “race, color, religion,

sex, or national origin.” 42 U.S.@.2000e-2(a)(1). Its procedural reguments are strict and specifi

U

First, a claimant must exhaust administrativeedies by filing a charge with the federal Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOGQGJ) a similar authorized state agendé$hader v.
Aspin 1 F.3d 968, 970 (10th Cir. 1993)jackley v. TW Telecom Holdings, In296 F.R.D. 655, 661
(D. Kan. 2014). In Kansas, in cases of racial disicration, the claimant mufite the charge within
300 days of the employer’s discrimingt@ction. 42 U.S.C § 2000e-5(e)(Nat’l R.R. Passenger
Corp. v. Morgan536 U.S. 101, 109 (200tenderson v. Int'l Union263 F. Supp. 2d 1245, 1273-74
(D. Kan. 2003). Once the EEOC has the opportunitgwtestigate the chargend the employer is
notified of the allegations, the claimant is proviaéth a “Right to Sue” lger. If the claimant
chooses to pursue a lawsuit, it must be filed wigirdays of the issuancetbie Right to Sue letter.
Mackley 296 F.R.D. at 661. The claims brought lawsuit must mirror the claims made in the
EEOC charge, because those are the claims whidbE@&C has investigated and tried to resolve, and

they are the claims about which the employer has been duly no#iadh v. Cheyenne Retirement




Inv'rs, L.P, 904 F.3d 1159, 1164 (10th Cir. 2018). Howetle, court may construe the EEOC cha

with some liberality when comparinguiith the claims in the complaintd.

In the present case, plaintiff filed his EEO@arge on July 5, 2018; as a result, it can reach

ge

back no more than 300 days, to cover only cargmanduct occurring after September 8, 2017. The

actions complained of in the charge are the comgdaylure to transfer plaintiff to a repairperson jg
in late 2016 or early 2017, monthefore September 2017. Consequeritie charge itself is filed ouf]
of time, in reference to its complained-of condudioreover, the allegations the charge — that the
company failed to promote plaintiff to a repairg@En spot in 2016/17 — vary significantly from the
claims in the complaint, which are that the campfailed to permit him to bid on utility worker
positions in January 2018, in retaliation for his ctamts about workplace safety and discriminatiol
Even with a liberal interpretatn, does not find that the EEOCis/estigation of Pentair’s hiring
decisions with respect to the repairperson spotd,CNC training, in k& 2016 and early 2017 would
have led to a review of the 2018lity worker bidding processSee Cheyenne Retireme®®4 F.3d at
1164-65 (“The ultimate question is whether the condlieged in the lawsuiwvould fall within the
scope of an EEOC investigation which would reasgngidw out of the chargeactually made in the
EEOC charge.”) (internal punctuation omitted). fase two reasons — thatimeliness of the EEOC
charge and the failure to exhaust the specifierdasutlined in the amended complaint — the court
grants Pentair’'s motion to dismiss the T\l claim of retaliation in Count I.
42 U.S.C. 81981

Plaintiff also claims in Courltthat Pentair’'s alleged retatory conduct was a violation of §
1981. This statutory section differs from Title Vlltimat it addresses only racial discrimination, it
does not require a prior filing with the EEOC, anprovides a more genaus four-year limitation

period. Harris v. Allstate Ins. C9.300 F.3d 1183, 1192 (10th Cir. 2002). To establish a prima fag
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case of retaliation, the plaintiff mtishow that: 1) he or she engdge protected conduct; 2) that the
employer took an action that a reasonable employee would consider materially adverse; and 3)
two had a causal connectioBomoza v. Univ. of Denveés13 F.3d 1206, 1212 (10th Cir. 2008).

In reviewing the amended complaint for examples of plaintiff'sqmtetd conduct, the court
identifies ten potential incident$) plaintiff filed a complaintad grievance stating he was being
harassed because of his race in September 2015ijfplexpressed concern about the Martin Lut}
King Jr. holiday in January 2016; Bhintiff told management that lveas experiencing discriminatio
and harassment in February 2016; 4) and agaiugust 2016; 5) plaintiff fled an EEOC charge
alleging race discrimination and retaliation in Octod@16; 6) plaintiff repdied a co-worker for
sexual harassment in January 2017; 7) plaintiff reddhat a co-worker threatened to kill him in Ap
2017; 8) plaintiff complained to managemebbat the discriminatory treatment his co-worker
received after damaging a producAugust 2017; 9) plaintiff fild his July 2018 charge with the
EEOC; and 10) plaintiff has repeatedly voiaeshcerns about dangerous working conditions.
Assuming that, even where plaintiff has not spedifhis complaints madeeir way to Pentair
management, and viewing these instances in thertigbt favorable to plaintiff, the court determine
that these incidents fall withithe scope of protected condu&ee Mondaine v. Am. Drug Stores, |n
408 F. Supp. 2d 1169, 1190 (D. Kan. 20086).

Plaintiff establishes the seconapg as well. Plaintiff allegesahhe bid on two utility worker

positions in January 2018, but was told he was inddéididobid on the jobs. He alleges furthers that

non-African-American employees were hired for the fpmss$, and were trained after they were hir¢

The court will also consideas incorporated by referentthe claim made in plaintiff's July 2018

EEOC charge, that he was denied a transfarrépairperson job in la016 or early 2017. In

2 Plaintiff has referenced and attached the EEOQjehtarhis amended complaint. Its authenticity is not
disputed, and the court has reviewedSee Pace v. Swerdlp®19 F.3d 1067, 1072 (10th Cir. 2008).
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addition, plaintiff makes othetague claims concerning his eff®to switch jobs, such as
participating in an apprenticeship program in thpetter cell and being told he would have to bid ¢
a position there if one opened. Giving the pléfitiie benefit of all infeences for the purpose of
analyzing Pentair's motion to dismiss, the ¢autl assume these employer actions would be
perceived as materially adge by a reasonable employee.

The third prong of the prima facie case requplemtiff to providesome plausible factual
allegations from which the court could infer that failure to be promoted was causally linked to hi
protected conduct. The court can find none. Them®t enough factual matal provided in the
complaint to permit the court to make this inferenbrestead, plaintiff reliesn conclusory statementg
such as, “There is a direct causal connectidwdsen Mr. Ross’ protected activity and the adverse
employment action.” These unsupmatiegal conclusions are the tythe court has been instructed
by the Supreme Court to disregaidbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (“Threadbare recitals of the elements off
cause of action, supported by mere conclustatements, do not suffice.”).

Because plaintiff has not providéactual allegations sufficiet support a plausible inferenc
that he was denied promotiorggdportunities in retaliation for his engagement in protected condug
his claim of retaliation pisuant to 42 U.S.C. 8981 must be dismissed.

I gnored complaints

Finally, whether brought under Title VII or 8 188 claim of retaliation cannot arise from
Pentair’'s ignoring plaintiff's compiats of discrimination and retatian. A necessary element of a
claim of retaliation is an adverse emplagmhaction on the part of the employ&omoza513 F.3d at
1212. While failure to promote a qualified candidatiékisly to be considered an adverse employm
action, ignoring an employeetomplaints is notBurlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. Co. v. Whitl8 U.S.

53, 67-68 (2006Daniels v. U.P.S., Inc701 F.3d 620, 629 (10th Cir. 2012phnson v. Weld Cty.,
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Colo, 594 F.3d 1202, 1216 (10th Cir. 2010). Consequentypttion of plaintiffs Count | that sets
forth Title VIl and § 1981 violationbased on Pentair’s disregard Fas complaints is dismissed for
failure to state a claim undéed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).

For all these reasons, the court grants Pentaioson to dismiss Count | of the amended
Complaint in its entirety.

Count 1

In Count I, plaintiff alleges that Pentaubjected him to harassment and discrimination
because of his race, in violation of Title VII. e court explained abova claim made pursuant to
Title VII must have first been presented to thelEEor similar authorized state agency within 300
days of the complained-of incident. The Title VII lawsuit which follows the plaintiff's receipt of tf
agency’s Right to Sue letter must track the claims made in the EOOC chkmgeerson263 F.
Supp. at 1273-74. Here, plaintiff fildis charge more than 300 days after he was denied the
opportunity to switch to a repaierson job. Not only was the charge untimely, but the specific
allegations of discriminatory failure-to-promotetite charge are not included in the complaint. In
addition, the charge includes no allegations of $mrent. Consequently, plaintiff has failed to
comply with the procedural requirements @' VIl, and this count must be dismissed.

Count I11

Count Il sets forth allegations intended tomdmstrate that Pentair violated Kansas public
policy on workplace safety when it retaliateghinst plaintiff by denying him opportunities for
promotion after he complained about safety starsdakinsas has recognizgdblic policy exceptiong
to the common law doctrine of employment at vahe of which protects employees who have bee
discharged in retaliation for whistle-blowin@almer v. Brown752 P.2d 685, 689-90 (Kan. 1988).

To maintain such action, an employess the burden of proving by clear and
convincing evidence, under the facts af ttase, a reasonalgyudent person would

e




have concluded the employee’s co-workleemployer was engadén activities in

violation of rules, regulabns, or the law pertaining public health, safety, and the

general welfare; the employer had knowled§éhe employee’s reporting of such

violation prior to discharge of the employdlee employee was disatged in retaliation

for making the report.
Id. at 690. The tort has been expanded beyond insidémérmination to cover coercive and advers
employment actions such as retaliatory demotions, and now includes “any employment action t
materially adverse tor@asonable employee,” at least for public employéty. State 448 P.2d
457, 469 (Kan. 2019). Considering the claim in the ligbst favorable to platiif, the court assumes
that plaintiff’s failure to promote claim is suffently adverse. A more significant obstacle for
plaintiff, however, is the absenoéallegations that pintiff reported actuatafety violations.
Plaintiff's “whistleblowing must be based on violations of specific a@gfthite rules,” rather than “a
personal opinion of wrongdoing.Goodman v. Wesley Med. Ctr., LLTB P.3d 817, 822-23 (Kan.
2003);see also Benjamin v. Bd. of Trs. of Barton Cty. Cmty. @bdl. 17-cv-2557, 2019 WL 414396
at *12 (D. Kan. Feb. 1, 2019). Plaintiff has provided no factual allegatiomg a/hat safety rules

were violated, the time frame of those violationsytiom he reported them, or what steps he took

report them. He merely states that he “belietret PENTAIR was engaging in workplace safety

violations” which he reported to quorate management and union officialis is insufficient to state

a plausible claim for relief. Consequently, thert@rants Pentair's motion to dismiss Count lll.
Count IV
In his final count, plaintiff beges that Pentair has discrimied against him based on his rac
in violation of 8 1981. Included ithis count are allegations thatrieair “denied and continues to der
Plaintiff of employment opportunities,” and did not treat plaintiff “dtyuaith regard to Defendant’s

application of its wdkplace policies.”
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To state a prima facie claim of discrimiogy failure-to-promoteinder § 1981, plaintiff must
provide plausible factual aljations that demonstrate that 1) ha imember of a protected class; 2) |
applied for a position for which he was qualifiedh&)was rejected; and &jter the rejection, the
position remained open or was filled by someone dikmng Nguyen v. Unified Gov’t of Wyandottd
Cty./Kan. City, Kan.No. 16-2654, 2017 WL 2080622, at *2 (D.iKaMay 15, 2017). In his amende
complaint, plaintiff states that he bid on two wiNtorker positions in January 2018, that he was to|
he could not bid on them, and that the positiease filled by unqualified non-African-Americans. ||
his 2018 EEOC charge, incorporated by reference ietadimplaint, plaintiff alleges that he has trie
to move into a repairperson position since 1996, that he was told in late 2016 or early 2017 by
Superintendent Ron Barner thegt was not qualified for the positi because he did not know how tg
run the CNC machine, but that other whataployees were trained on the machine.

The second part of plaintiff'sa&im, for disparate treatment, rerps that plaintiff show that he
is a member of a protected class, that he suffaneadverse employmeauttion, and that similarly-
situated employees outside his protdatkass were treated more favorabMcAlester v. United Air
Lines, Inc, 851 F.2d 1249, 1260 (10th Cir. 197Vgldez v. Tyco Int. Sec. LL.8o0. 2-16-cv-16, 2019
WL 267469, at *6 (D. Utah Jan. 18, 2019). In suppoth claim, plaintiffalleges that, in 2016, he
was “micromanaged” while no white employees wetgiected to similar scruty. Plaintiff’'s other
allegations of disparate treatment are eithewobtime (an incident in April 2014 took place prior to
the start of the four-year statuteliofitations), or targeted plaintif co-workers, rather than plaintiff
himself.

While both sets of allegations are admittediyited, the court deems that they are sufficient
“nudge” plaintiff's claim “across the linom conceivable to plausible. Twombly 550 U.S. at 570.

Plaintiff “is not required tset forth a prima facie case for each element .Khalik, 671 F.3d at

-11-
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1193. In discussing the heightehpleading requirements adegtby the Supreme Court, tkbalik
court noted, “. . . [T]h@womby/lgbaktandard recognizes a plafhthould have at least some
relevant information to make the claims plausible on their falgk.” Discrimination may be
established through circumstantial evidenBamsey642 F.2d at 1007—08. Moreover, discriminati
“can be inferred from the mere fact of differences in treatmevitAlester 851 F.2d at 1260/aldez
2019 WL 267469, at *6. Based on the claims assertgdilytiff, the court holdshat it is possible to
make a plausible inference that he was discriminaggdhst in the areas of disciplinary treatment a
promotional opportunity.

As these claims advance, the burden stilft to Pentair, in accordance with tleDonnell
Douglasburden-shifting-framework, to come forwawith its own evidence of a legitimate, non-
discriminatory reason that theypeatedly failed to promote plaifif and to explain its allegedly
disparate disciplinary policiesvicDonnell Douglas Corp. v. GregAll U.S. 792 (1973). “The
shifting burdens of proof dficDonnell Douglasare designed to assuratiplaintiff has his day in
court despite the unavailability of direct evideméa@iscrimination.” Ramsey v. City & Cty. of
Denver 907 F.2d 1004, 1007-08 (10th Cir. 1990).

Conclusion
As explained above, plaintiff's Count I, ajieg wrongful retaliabn under Title VIl and 42

U.S.C. § 1981, is dismissed for failure to comply with statutory procedural requirements, and fo

failure to state a claim under Fed.@yv. P. 12(6). Count Il, allegg harassment and discrimination |i

violation of Title VI, islikewise dismissed for failure to complyith procedural requirements. Couf
I, alleging that Pentair’s failure to promote plihrepresented a violation of Kansas public policy
is dismissed for failure to state a claim. Pendambtion to dismiss Count I9¥f plaintiff's amended

complaint, alleging Pentair discriminated agapiaintiff in contravention of 42 U.S.C. 8 1981 by
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failing to promote him and subjecting him to dispamiscipline, is deniedCount IV may proceed to
the next step ithis litigation.

IT ISTHEREFORE ORDERED that Pentair's motion to dismiss the amend complaint is
granted as to Counts I, Il and IlI, but denied aSdant IV. No judgment sl enter until the case is
closed.

Dated this 9th day of December, 2019, at Kansas City, Kansas.

g/ Carlos Murguia
CARLOSMURGUIA
United States District Judge
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